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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                             Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	MICHAEL L. WALKER, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

WORLD PAVING & ASPHALT 

MAINTENANCE,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

WESTPORT INSURANCE CORPORATION,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                   v.                                                      

ACE PROPERTY & CASUALTY 

INSURANCE COMPANY,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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	      FINAL

      DECISION AND ORDER

      AWCB Case Nos. 200028175M, 

                                     200027147
                                     199206474

      AWCB Decision No. 03-0254  

       Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

       on October  23 ,  2003


        On September 23, 2003, we heard the employee’s claims for benefits for neck injuries sustained on March 4, 1992 and December 16, 2000 and  the employee’s claims for groin injuries sustained May 14, 1999, May 23, 2000 and April 24, 2002.  We also heard the respective insurers’ claims for reimbursement for costs and attorney’s fees incurred by the prevailing party under AS 23.30.155(d).   The employee appeared in person and was represented by his wife, Rose Walker.  Westport Insurance Corporation (“Westport”) was represented by Trena Heikes, attorney at law.  Ace Property and Casualty (“ACE”) was represented by Alan Tesche, attorney at law.  We kept the record open following the hearing for inclusion of the deposition of Bryan Laycoe, M.D.  It was submitted October 16, 2003, and we closed the record when we met on that day.  


ISSUES

1.    Is the employee entitled to the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120?

2. Did the employee’s injuries occur within the course and scope of his employment?

3. Did the employee violate his doctors’ restrictions regarding his activities and thereby aggravate his conditions and fail to mitigate so as preclude his recovery of benefits?

4.       Are any of the employee’s claims time barred due to failure to comply with 

AS 23.30.100?

5. Is Westport liable for the employee’s medical expenses under the last injurious exposure rule?

6.      Is the employee entitled to medical benefits under AS 23.30.095?

7.  Is the employee entitled to interest on all late-paid benefits under 8 AAC 45.142?


8.      Which insurer should pay reasonable attorney’s fees, interest and costs pursuant to AS 23.30.155(d)?


9.       Is the employee entitled to reemployment benefits?


10.     Is the employee entitled to a penalty under AS 23.30.155(e)?


11.     Is the employee entitled to Temporary Total Disability (TTD)?

12.     Is the employee entitled to Temporary  Partial Disability(TPD)?

13.     Has the employee  incurred any  additional Permanent Partial Impairment (PPI)?

14.    Did the employer engage in an unfair or frivolous controversion?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

        
The employee was the sole proprietor of World Paving and Asphalt Maintenance until he incorporated the business in 2002.  The employee began company operations in 1987.
    The business is engaged in paving and road maintenance.  It is a seasonal business as paving in Alaska can only be conducted in the summer months, from approximately April   through October  of each year.

           The facilities of the business are located on about five acres near Wasilla, Alaska.
   It includes trucks, maintenance equipment and a shop.  When the business is underway, the payroll includes several  laborers who are supervised by the employee.  The employee’s wife, Rose, serves as bookkeeper for the business.  However, she is well versed in road maintenance requirements and can operate equipment if necessary.    

            Road maintenance is a demanding occupation.  Contracts for road work require that deadlines be met.  During the summer months, the business can operate as many as 14     hours a day.

             Up until June 16, 1997, the employee was  insured for workers’ compensation coverage by ACE.  From June 8, 1999 to June 8, 2001,  the employee was covered for workers’ compensation purposes by Westport.

I.  MEDICAL EVIDENCE

               On March 4, 1992, the employee thought he pulled a muscle in his neck and right shoulder while reaching up to get on a grader at work.
  On April 1, 1992, he saw  Charles Layman, M.D., for neck pain.  On April 5, 1992, he filed a Report of Injury.  On April 8, 1992, the employee underwent a MRI
 of the C-Spine.  The impression was:

Mild anterior compression, C6, with degenerative disc disease, C6-7, and with findings of herniated nucleus pulposus, C6-7, left-sided, with associated spinal stenosis.

The employee’s doctor recommended that he undergo surgery for his neck.   He refused both because of the demands of his business and because he was fearful of the surgery.
  He had no previous neck injury or symptoms.


On November 25, 1996, the employee underwent a cervical fusion or diskectomy which required a bone graft from his right hip area.  ACE paid for this surgery.  The employee and his wife believe that the bone graft might have disturbed a groin nerve thus causing continuing groin pain to the employee.  To address this issue, on June 20, 1997, James O’Malley, M.D.,  performed surgery which resulted in repair of a hernia.  During the course of this surgery, he located the iliolingual  nerve and determined it  was intact.
  However, even after this surgery, the employee continued to experience ongoing groin pain which had been a problem for him since 1994.

            During the next few years, the employee went through a period when he was taking too many painkillers. In time, he managed to get his pain medication usage under control.
  He subsequently entered into an agreement with Dr. Layman, who provides him with pain drugs on a two month basis to manage his ongoing pain condition.
    


Because of the employee’s ongoing responsibilities to manage the business, he did not sustain a great deal of time loss.  His general practice was to take pain killers for his neck and groin conditions and to try to continue to work.  He was aware of his doctors’ advice to avoid heavy lifting.  He made efforts to place himself in a more supervisory role in his business which would keep him from needing to engage in heavy lifting.

 
 During the period after the neck surgery, the employee’s groin pain continued.  He underwent injections but they where were only somewhat successful in bringing his condition under control.   He also underwent radio frequency ablation.


After the neck surgery, the employee received physical therapy beginning in February 1997.  On April 30, 1997, John C. Godersky, M.D.,  reported that the employee was recovering well from his fusion surgery.
  However, the physical therapist’s report of June 9, 1997 noted “no significant improvement in nerve root irritation.”
  Patti Mackay, an adjuster with ACE,  noted that physical therapy report and asked Dr. Godersky for other treatment options to reduce the nerve root irritation.
 The employeee continued to complain of pain in connection with the fusion.
  He was advised by Dr. Godersky to avoid activities which would aggravate his neck.
  On November 27, 1997, he  received a 15% impairment rating for his cervical radiculopathy.
 

              The employee also experienced right shoulder problems.  He never filed a claim for these problems but they were a part of his ongoing physical difficulties.  He was evaluated by Dr. Godersky in November 1996, who noted atrophy in the left triceps muscle.
  After the fusion, the employee continued to experience headaches and lateral right neck pain down to the right elbow.
  He was sent to Adrian Ryan, M.D. for orthopedic evaluation of the right shoulder.  Dr. Ryan diagnosed chronic rotator cuff syndrome and performed a right shoulder arthroscopy, arthroscopic acromioplasty and Mumford procedure on December 3, 1997.
  He then received physical therapy.  He was determined medically stable as of May 11, 1998 and Dr. Ryan gave him a 14% whole person PPI rating for the right shoulder.
  Dr. Ryan informed the employee he would not be able to do heavy duty work based on his ongoing neck and shoulder problems.  He was to do only light duty work with no forced use about his right shoulder, no lifting and no excessive use of the upper extremity.

 
In 1998, the employee was also seen by Michel Geveart, M.D.  He performed an electromyographic study on June 8, 1998 for chronic dysesthesia and pain in the right arm.  He found subacute right C5 radiculopathy and minimal changes in a right C7 distribution.
  He did not find any evidence of carpal or cubital tunnel syndrome.
  He gave him a PPI impairment rating of 27% for his combined cervical and shoulder conditions on August 10, 1998.
  He was found to be able to perform light work as a supervisor of asphalt paving but not medium work as a machine operator or construction worker.


In 1999, the employee entered into a Compromise and Release Agreement with ACE.
  In the agreement, the employee received $51,000 to waive all benefits, including his reemployment benefits, except medical benefits.  Part of these funds were to be used by the employee to upgrade his pilot license so he could operate a business flying supplies to rural Alaska.
  However, the employee never was able to obtain the license in part because of the pain medications he was using.


On May 16, 2000, he experienced a groin strain as a result of lifting which he engaged in on an emergency basis in his shop.  His testimony and that of his employees bears out his continuing efforts to adhere to the doctors’ weight lifting restrictions.  However, on this occasion, his actions resulted in a groin strain and greatly increased his pain.
  His employee and his wife as well as the employee emphasized that after this event, the employee’s pain was much worse.  On May 23, 2000, the employee again saw Dr. O’Malley, who reminded the employee about his work restrictions and diagnosed a probably pulled groin muscle and prescribed a nerve block.
  He returned to Dr. O’Malley on June 23, 2000 and received another nerve block.  The employee did not see Dr. O’Malley after this date.
  Dr. O’Malley noted that the employee was complaining of the same “…tearing, ripping, burning pain in his right groin medially just over the tip of his rectus muscle that he had before.”  He also noted the employee was working 14 hour days. In his deposition, Dr. O’Malley opined that he had no reason to believe the employee was not being truthful in reporting his pain syndrome.
  He also addressed the dual nature of the employee’s groin strain which was superimposed on his preexisting condition.  Dr. O’Malley commented on the relationship between the two conditions saying “It (the strain) did not resolve in the amount of time that it ordinarily takes for something like that to resolve.  But you have to realize, obviously, we all know, that the man had an underlying problem that preceded this and probably was going on in concert with this.”
  Dr. O’Malley referred the employee to Edward Tang, M.D., of the Pain Clinic.
 Dr. Tang saw the employee on July 6, 2000.  He noted that the block injections did not work for the employee. He also noted that the employee complained of severe pain and the impact it was having on his business and his personal life.  He administered another block and provided the employee with more pain medications.
  Four days later, the employee returned to Dr. Tang.  Dr. Tang diagnosed “intractable right inguinal neuralgia.”
  The employee was desperate to have something done because he could not stand the pain for much longer.
  Dr. Tang and Lawrence Stinson, M.D., suggested a nerve implant stimulator for the employee’s groin pain.
  The implant was placed on a trial basis on July 14, 2000.
  ACE paid for the temporary implant.  Because it was successful in addressing his groin pain
, a permanent implant was installed in November, 2000.  This resulted in the employee feeling “about 80% better.”
 However, because of confusion over whether the May 16, 2000 incident was a new injury or a continuation of the employee’s ongoing groin problems, the employee did not file a report of injury until March 2001.  This resulted in Westport incurring a $50,000 expense for the permanent implant.


Controversions were filed in connection with the employee’s conditions by the insurers.
  However, the situation became critical for the employee when the permanent implant was controverted along with subsequent medical care.


In conjunction with the permanent implant, the employee was seen for a psychological evaluation by Robert Trombley, Ph.D, a pain psychologist.
  He was diagnosed with adjustment disorder with depressed mood and anxiety. He was found to be an appropriate candidate for the permanent nerve stimulator. No evidence of symptom magnification or malingering was found.

            When the employee’s medical bills were controverted and not paid, he faced increasing difficulties obtaining medical treatment.  His testimony at hearing was that he had to take out loans to cover his medical expenses and he was very distressed about not having his ongoing medical needs met.  At one point, he was told not to come back to Dr. Stinson    until his bill was paid in full.  As a result, the employee considers his unpaid medical expenses to be the central issue in this case. 


On December 16, 2000, the employee was moving barrels on his shop and he reinjured his neck and back.  His testimony was that the barrels were mostly empty and did not weigh more than ten or 20 pounds.  He was using a dolly to move them.   He saw Ed Manning, P.A., on December 18, 2000 for his neck problem.
 His assessment was “acute cervical strain with acute thoracic strain.”  He prescribed painkillers and a soft cervical collar.  
Views of the cervical and thoracic spine were taken at Valley Hospital on December 18, 2000 which showed “degenerative spurring anteriorly at the C5-6 disc space, progressed compared to previous exams.”
  With the improvement of his groin pain after the implant, the employee noticed his cervical pain was greater.  Dr. Stinson saw him on January 10, 2001 and recommended additional treatment including cervical and thoracic MRI’s.  He was also referred for physical therapy to help decrease upper cervical pain.
  It was beneficial.
   The physical therapy lasted until November 10, 2001, when Dr. Stinson refused to see him further because his medical bills were not paid.  On April 16, 2001, Dr. Stinson referred the employee to Advanced Pain Therapeutics for evaluation and treatment of the employee’s cervical discogenic pain.
 Further injections were done.  However, at about this time, the employee was not able to receive further medical treatment as “…he ran up $50,000.00 of medical bills and eventually the doctors told him not to come in because they were not being paid.”
  The employee believes his conditions worsened because he was not able to continue with physical therapy.
  The employee believes he was hampered in fully determining the nature of his condition because Dr. Stinson has not been available to provide an updated opinion due to the payment problems.
  The employee has not had his implant supervised because of problems with nonpayment of his medical expenses.
  The employee concedes that payment of the medical bills was accomplished as of the hearing by the insurance companies but the medical expenses definitely were not paid in a timely manner and some were sent to collection.


As of January 11, 2002, Westport agreed to pay the employee’s medical costs for his neck treatment “under a reservation of rights seeking reimbursement under .155(d) once the matter is finally decided.”  However, Westport maintained its controversion of the hernia/groin injury.  It also made clear that it was controverting vocational rehabilitation benefits under the December 2000 claim on the basis that the employee failed to mitigate his damages.


On March 2, 2002, the employee was seen by Bryan Laycoe, M.D., at the request of Westport.
  He diagnosed:

1. Dorsolumbar strain 12/16/00 with secondary muscle contraction headaches.

2. Cervical strain 12/16/00

3. Status post anterior cervical fusion C6-7 with residual right radiculopathy 1996.

4. Chronic pain syndrome right groin, status post exploration 1997.

5. Strain right groin by history 05/16/00 with subjective worsening of preexisting chronic right groin diagnosis resulting in increased right groin pain.

6. Status post nerve stimulator implantation right groin November 2000.

He found that the December 16, 2000 lifting injury was a strain of the cervical, dorsal and thoracic spine, that the employee was stable as of July 2001 and that his working with heavy loads contributed to his December 16, 2000 injury.  Dr. Laycoe further found that future treatment is palliative and he would benefit  from exercise and heat and ice.  He would not give the employee any additional PPI rating as a result of the December 16, 2000 incident.


With respect to the employee’s groin injury, Dr. Laycoe concluded that the employee had preexisting chronic pain syndrome in the right groin that was only subjectively changed after May 16, 2000.  He recommended Dr. James Robinson evaluate the employee as to the need for inguinal surgery.
  Dr. Laycoe expanded upon his earlier evaluation in a letter to counsel dated April 23, 2002.
 He indicated that the May 16, 2000 injury caused only a subjective as opposed to objective increase in the employee’s pain complaints.  He also opined that the May 16, 2000 groin pull did not result in additional tissue damage.  He believed that the employee returned to his pre May 2000 injury status in November 2000.  He also corrected his earlier report to delete any finding of a lumbar strain.  He opined that the May and December 2000 injuries were temporary strains which would have resolved by the date of medical stability.

Dr. Laycoe testified by deposition on behalf of  Westport regarding the employee’s neck condition. It was his belief that employee’s the neck injury of December 16, 2000 did not result in a permanent change in his neck condition.
 He does not believe that the employee’s December 16, 2000 injury was a substantial factor in the employee’s neck condition as of his (Dr. Laycoe’s)  March 2, 2002 evaluation.
  He also does not believe the employee’s December 16, 2000 injury is a substantial factor in the employee’s need for surgery as attested to in Dr. Godersky’s July 2003 report. He opined that the heavy work engaged in by the employee since June 16, 1997 permanently worsened his neck condition.

              David Glass, M.D., a psychiatrist, testified by his March 13, 2003 report regarding the employee’s mental status.  He interviewed the employee, conducted psychological testing, participated in the history and physical examination with Dr. Braun and Dr. Thompson as well as reviewing the employee’s available medical reports.
  He concluded that the most appropriate diagnosis would be:



AXIS I   304.00 Opioid Dependence, narcotic pain medications.

304.10 Anxiolytic Dependence, benzodiazepine tranquilizers.

307.89 Pain Disorder associated with both psychological factors and a general medical condition.

Rule out V65.2.  Malingering.  Conscious embellishment of symptoms as a way of obtaining addicting agents and entitlement is most likely, and the V-Code designation, V65.2 Malingering, is considered.



AXIS II  No Diagnosis Clearly Documented, however, personality  

                                         psychodynamics are primary in understanding the etiology of a 




   somatoform pain disorder (307.89); with more social data, person-

                                         ality disorder diagnosis may be forthcoming.



AXIS III Deferred to Dr. Thompson and Dr. Braun.



AXIS IV Moderate:  By his report, Mr. Walker is struggling to keep the

 


   business profitable and has had to deal with family issues…



AXIS V  Fair-to-good:  Mr. Walker is working and reports a good




   relationship with his family…

Dr. Glass goes on to note that the employee’s severe physical complaints are not in keeping with his degree of actual tissue pathology.  He recommends that the employee be weaned away from addictive drugs and receive action oriented treatments as well as a self-directed exercise program.


John W. Thompson, M.D., orthopedic surgeon, also saw the employee as part of the  panel requested by ACE.  He issued his report on the employee’s neck condition on March 13, 2003.  He reviewed the employee’s medical history and performed a physical examination.   His impression was:

1. Status post op anterior cervical fusion and discectomy C6-7.

2. Chronic pain syndrome secondary to the original injury and subsequent surgery of the cervical spine.

3. Chronic cervical strain secondary to the December of 2000 injury.

4. Marked inconsistencies noted on the examination manifested by inappropriate responses to various nerve testing.

5. Probable prominent phychosocial influences affecting recovery.

6. Chronic thoracic strain secondary to the December of 2000 injury.

He believed that the examination was “so clouded with obvious symptom magnification and non-anatomical sensory responses that it’s difficult to state that there are objective findings which support the diagnosis.”
  He believed that “…any worsening in his condition…is to a substantial degree a result of the work activity subsequent to June 16, 1997, i.e., new injury of December of 2000.”
  He agreed that the employee should adhere to lifting restrictions, i.e., no lifting over 20-25 pounds and he should not be forced to use his arms above shoulder level.
  He agreed with Dr. Gevaert as to the 20% PPI rating.  He did not see a need for further surgery unless the cervical spine condition changed drastically.
  He suggested short term palliative care with home exercise and minimization of medications.

       Esmond Braun, M.D., general surgeon and urologist, saw the employee as part of a physician panel requested by the ACE.  He addressed the employee’s groin pain issues.  He issued his report on March 13, 2003.  He concluded that he could not observe objective findings, that the employee’s complaints are not reproducible and nonanatomic and he is unable to make a diagnosis as the causes of the condition are possibly factitious.
   Thereafter, the insurer provided additional information regarding the employee’s neck condition for review by Dr. Braun.  This information included an MRI, an x-ray and a report from Dr. Godersky.  Dr. Braun indicated that the new information did not affect his conclusion from the March 13, 2003 panel report that he could not diagnose any anatomic or physiologic abnormality associated with the employee’s groin condition.
  He did not believe that pain alone could form the basis for a diagnosis.


Dr. Braun did not believe that the employee’s neck surgery in 1996 which included a bone graft from the right iliac bone could have produced the employee’s right groin pain.  He found the doctors’ advice to avoid heavy lifting above 40 pounds and to change occupations to be reasonable.  He considered the employee’s behavior in lifting the dump bed on a truck in connection with the May 16, 2000 injury to be unreasonable in light of the doctors’ restrictions on his activities.  He disagreed with the decision to implant nerve block stimulators in July and November 2000.
  He would have tried local anesthetic injections.  He assumed that if the employee had followed the doctors’ restrictions he could have avoided the May 2000 injury.  However, he added that he does not really believe the employee has a groin problem in view of his complaint about pain without supporting objective anatomic documentation. He believes the employee is magnifying his symptoms and is malingering.
  He based this on the employee’s well muscled abdomen which he surmises the employee would not have if he was avoiding exercise because of his groin pain.  He also described variations in the pain which would not occur if the pain were bona fide in nature. “Non-reproducible pain” as he put it in his report.
  He also considered the pain complaint to not be associated with expected nerve response patterns.  He reviewed Dr. O’Malley’s diagnosis of the May 23rd groin pull and surmised that this condition would have resolved in six to eight weeks.  Although the employee reported that the implant improved his pain symptoms, there was no objective way to measure the effectiveness of the implant.
  He does not believe that employment prior to June 16, 1997 was a substantial factor in causing, aggravating or accelerating any of the conditions diagnosed or causing the need for medical treatment of his groin condition.
 He also does not believe that employment after June 8, 1999 was a factor in causing his groin condition as he cannot identify a diagnosable groin condition.
 

          Joseph Pulito, M.D., a general surgeon, evaluated the employee’s groin condition  at the request of Westport on June 27, 2003.  He noted that the employee had been having right side groin problems for many years.
  He asserted that the employee had benefited from having the nerve stimulator implanted in July 2000  and November 2000.  He was asked if the employee’s groin strain as reported by Dr. O’Malley in May 23, 2000 was a substantial factor in the need for the nerve implants.  He maintained that the strain was not a factor giving rise to the need for the implants as much as the ongoing groin pain that the employee had been experiencing.
  Dr. Pulito agreed that Dr. O’Malley’s April 18, 1997 hernia repair report confirmed that at the surgery the ilioguinal nerve was carefully preserved and looked in tact.
  Dr. Pulito concurred with Dr. Braun’s finding that “there are no demonstrations of ilioinguinal injury at any time…there is no evidence of injury causing his complaints of groin pain.”
 He also agreed that based on his examination of the records he had been provided and Dr. Braun’s statement “Not that I could tell” in response to whether there had been any injury to the groin  before June 6, 1997, he did not believe the employee had a groin injury prior to June 6, 1997.  Dr. Pulito concluded that the employee’s work injury of May 16, 2000 was not a substantial factor in causing the need for the nerve stimulator.
  


Dr. Pulito also addressed the employee’s groin condition in his June 27, 2003 letter to Westport’s counsel.
    He diagnosed a right groin strain.  He opined that while the December 2000 injury would have healed in about six weeks and the associated tissue would have healed, the employee could have irritation and persistent scarring that could have entrapped the ilioinguinal or iliohypogastric nerves leading to his chronic pain pattern.
  He acknowledged that the employee’s exceeding his restrictions was more than what he should have been doing.
  He suggested possible nerve blocks rather than the nerve stimulator.  He acknowledged that the May 16, 2000 incident aggravated the employee’s ongoing groin problem.  He acknowledged that the subjective nature of the employee’s pain made it difficult to evaluate.
  He suggested that a neurectomy be considered.


The employee had another MRI
 of the cervical spine on July 14, 2003at the request of Dr. Layman.
 The impression was:

1. Failure of segmentation of C6-7 as above.

2. Mild foraminal stenosis bilaterally at C4-5.

3. Moderate foraminal stenosis on the right and severe foraminal stenosis on the left at C5-6 with small area of increased signal in the cord centrally at that level probably representing gliosis.

4. Mild bilateral foraminal stenosis C6-7 and C7-T1.

5. 2 mm central and left paracentral and 3 mm left lateral calcified disc protrusion C6-7.     

             The employee was seen by Dr. Godersky on July 30, 2003.
  He reviewed the July 14, 2003 MRI and noted that the employee has spondylitic changes at  C5-6 with formainal narrowing bilaterally at this level.  He also found evidence of a C6 radiculopathy, “…more on the left than on the right secondary to his cervical spondylosis.”  This was at the level adjacent to his prior anterior diskectomy and fusion.  He recommended surgery for treatment of the spondylosis with radiculopathy.
As of June 2003, the employee remained on a medication contract with Charles Layman, M.D., who provides him with Percocet and Lorazepam for his neck and low back pain.


           At the prehearing conference held September 11, 2003, the parties stipulated that ACE has paid all compensation and medical benefits to Mr. Walker for 3-4-92 injury through 12-16-2000 (neck) and 7-14-2000 (groin) except for a 6-23-00 $345 Dr. O’Malley bill and a 7-6-00 $339 bill from Dr. Stinson.  At the same prehearing conference, the parties also stipulated that Northern Adjusters and Westport Insurance Corporation have paid medical treatment in relation to the neck from 12-16-00 through the present except for miscellaneous prescriptions and Dr. Godersky’s $300 bill.

II.  LATE FILED CLAIM

  
 ACE offered the deposition of Patti Mackay in support of its argument that the employee failed to file a timely claim regarding the May 16, 2000 injury.  Ms Mackay testified that she had a conversation with Rose Walker on July 10, 2000 regarding the employee’s continuing leg problems.
  She understood that Ms. Walker would get back to her to let her know whether the condition was an old or new injury.  Ms. Mackay indicated that she did not get a medical report regarding the employee’s condition until October 2000.  ACE did pay for the temporary implant.
  


Westport objected to the failure of the employee to file a timely report of injury as required by  AS 23.30.100, as the delay in this case led the carrier to be faced with $50,000 in medical expenses.    

             Rose Walker offered testimony regarding the late filing.  She indicated that she was not aware of the filing requirement or that this would be considered a new injury until the claim was controverted in January 2001.  But when she was advised about it, she promptly acted by filing a report of injury with Westport regarding the May 2000 injury in March 2001.  She testified that she did not consider the groin problem a new injury which would have required her to file a new report of injury.

III.  CARRIER REIMBURSEMENT

           Counsel for Westport filed an affidavit claiming that the employer carrier had incurred $2,575.60 in costs and $34,174.00 in attorney fees and paralegal costs in defending the claim through September 15, 2003.   Westport also incurred $13,986.00 in costs paid through Northern Adjusters from July 31, 2001 through the present.  The employer’s insurer seeks reimbursement of medical expenses paid on the employee’s neck after July 31, 2001 when it alleges the employee recovered from the effects of his strain.


Counsel for ACE also sought recovery under AS 23.30.155(d) against Westport because of subsequent injuries and aggravations to the employee’s neck condition after December 16, 2000 and to his groin condition after May 14, 1999.  It seeks medical expenses for treatment of the groin condition between May 14, 1999 and the present in the amount of $16,595.01.  It also seeks one half of the attorney’s fees and costs from April 20, 2001 to the present or $16,981.05.  One half of the attorney’s fees are sought to reflect only defense of the groin claim.

IV.  COMPENSATION RATE

The employer also requested copies of the employee’s tax returns for 1999, 2000 and 2001 and 2002.  These were provided.

V.  HEARING TESTIMONY

        George Brevak testified for the employee at the hearing.  He was employed by the employer from summer of 1999 to July 2000.   He was aware that the employee was not to lift anything heavy.  He testified regarding the circumstances surrounding the employee’s injury on May 16, 2000.  While the employee and three others were attempting to fit a dump box on a dump bed, an emergency occurred causing the employee to help with the lifting of the bed.  Shortly afterward, the employee collapsed in a great deal of pain.  After May 2000, the witness observed that the employee continued to be in a great deal of pain.

Tom  Brooks  testified for the employee at the hearing.  He worked for the employer from 1999 through May 2001.  He was aware that the employee was not to do heavy lifting.  He noted that, at times, the employee would come into work for a few hours and then leave.  He noted that the employee was much harder to get along with after the May 2000 incident, which he believed was due to the pain the employee was complaining that he was experiencing.

            The employee also testified at the hearing.  He conceded that he had been told by doctors to adhere to certain restrictions, to stay on light duty and to get out of his business. After receiving the restrictions, he did more supervision and made efforts to comply with his doctor’s restrictions.    He has memory problems due to side effects from medication.  He has made efforts to sell the business during the past few years but has not been able to find a buyer.  With respect to what Dr. Geveart told him about restricting his activities, he felt the restrictions were not fully explained to him and that he did not fully appreciate what would happen to him if he did not follow them.  


With regard to the May 16, 2000 injury, when he was helping other employees with fitting a dump box on a dump bed, he indicated that this was an emergency and as a result of his moving the item, he did sustain the groin injury.
  With regard to the December 16, 2000 barrel moving incident when he injured his neck, he indicated that the barrels were mostly empty and he did not think he was engaging in any activity which would violate his restrictions.  He saw Dr. Stinson several days latter and was placed on physical therapy.  He continued with the physical therapy but he could not continue to see Dr. Stinson as his bills were not being paid by the insurance companies. He felt the physical therapy was helping him.  He owes Dr. Stinson $32,000.  He maintains that unpaid medical bills were sent to collection.  He has paid some of the bills out of his own pocket.  He did experience time loss as a result of the 2000 injuries.  He estimates that his work days have been cut in half since the December 16, 2000 injury and that he works about four hours a day.  He testified that he has not been refused medical care because doctors thought he was not being honest with them.
         Rose Walker, the employee’s wife, testified at the hearing.  She has been responsible for handling the employee’s business affairs as well as transactions between the insurers and her husband regarding his injuries and need for treatment.  She submitted tax records for the employee.  She indicated that the employee had made efforts to sell the business. At times in the past, he was concerned about losing the business.  She also agreed that he had been in a great deal of pain after the May 16, 2000 injury and that he had spent time in bed after this incident.  She also understood that the barrels the employee was moving in the December 16, 2000 injury were empty.

         John Thompson, M.D. testified for ACE at the hearing.    He saw the employee as part of a panel convened at the request of the employer.     In his March 13, 2003 report, he asserted that there were psychogenic factors contributing to the employee’s neck condition.  He stated:


As previously noted there are numerous inconsistencies noted on today’s examination which cannot be explained other than on the basis of psychogenic factors.  There has been no evidence of any nerve conduction problems or abnormalities in the ulnar nerves, at least as of the last nerve conduction that he had to explain the symptoms that are present.  He had such a degree of symptom magnification on the examination that it’s really difficult to interpret these findings in any other way, except to say that there are significant psychogenic factors involved in his recovery.  He certainly is  very angry and this is playing a role in his ongoing complaints.

         Dr. Gevaert testified on behalf of Westport at the hearing.  He saw the employee on June 8, 1998.  He found the employee had a total permanent impairment for combined cervical and shoulder lesion of 27%.
  He felt the employee could perform work in the light-medium work category.  He also noted that in the last few years, the employee’s job had become more administrative.
  

IV. ARGUMENT OF THE PARTIES

A.  EMPLOYEE


The employee’s principal concern in the hearing is the denial of timely payment for medical expenses.  He claims that he did adhere to the doctors’ restrictions except for the May 16, 2000 incident, which involved an emergency, and  the December 16, 2000 incident, which entailed activity which was moving mostly empty barrels.  He acknowledged that he did not fully understand the restrictions nor did he fully appreciate the consequences of failing to following the restrictions.

B.  ACE 


The insurer provided coverage for World Paving until June 16, 1997.
  This insurer paid compensation and medical benefits for the employee as a result of his March 4, 1992 neck injury. On April 27, 1999, the Board approved a compromise and release agreement which paid the employee $51,417.16 for waiver of past and future disability benefits, PPI and vocational rehabilitation stemming from the March 4, 1992 neck injury.  However, future medical care remained open.  The employee continued to receive ongoing medical care for his groin condition until July 2000 when medical benefits were controverted after his May 15, 2000 groin injury.
  ACE maintains that the employee did not adhere to the restrictions imposed on his physical activities by his doctors.  ACE also contends that under the last injurious exposure rule, it is not responsible for medical expenses and other benefits where the employee was subsequently covered by the other insurer, Westport.  ACE also maintains that the employee may be responsible for his own medical care as a result of the 2000 injuries if he is found by the Board not to have mitigated his damages by following his doctors’ restrictions.

C.  WESTPORT

          Westport assumed responsibility for providing workers’ compensation coverage for World Paving from June 8, 1999 until June 8, 2001.  Westport contends that neither the groin injury of May 16, 2000 or the neck injury of December 16, 2000 was a substantial factor in causing the employee’s current conditions and need for medical treatment.  Westport claims that Dr. O’Malley’s testimony supports its position that the groin nerve stimulator was not implanted to address the groin pull which is a muscle condition.  Westport also maintains that the testimony of Drs. Laycoe and Thompson regarding the employee’s December 16, 2000 neck strain will show that it is not a substantial factor in his current neck condition.  Westport has been paying for the employee’s medical expenses for his neck under a reservations of rights pursuant to AS 23.30.155(d).  Westport also asserts that the claim is barred under AS 23.30.100 as the employee failed file a timely report of injury for the May 16, 2000 groin injury.  Westport claims that the fact that the owner knows about the injury is not sufficient knowledge under AS 23.30.100.  Westport asserts that delays in paying the employee’s medical expenses occurred because the bills were being sent to ACE.

           Both insurers allege that the employee is malingering, failed to mitigate his injuries by observing his doctors’ restrictions and that he has magnified his symptoms.  Westport asserts that the employee failed to adhere to doctor’s restrictions and that this constitutes a form of refusal of treatment such as to deprive the employee of coverage.  Westport asserts that if the employee had not engaged in restricted activities, the injuries after June 16, 1997 would not have occurred.  Thus, Westport contends that these injuries which occurred in May and December of 2000 should be the responsibility of the employee and not Westport.

                        FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW



        I.  PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE STANDARD
                The Board begins its analysis of this case by noting that the employee is the sole proprietor of World Paving and Asphalt.  Pursuant to AS 23.30.239, we find that the employee bears the burden of proof regarding the validity of his claim.

        II.   COURSE AND SCOPE
               During all times between 1992 and 2001, the employee worked as sole proprietor of his business.  In 2002, he incorporated his business. Based on the hearing testimony, the Board finds that as all his work activities occurred in connection with operating his business, any injuries which occurred happened within the course and scope of his employment.

III. LATE FILED CLAIM

               Westport contends that the employee delayed in filing its claim from the  May 16, 2000 groin injury.  In support of its position, it offered the deposition of  Patti Mackay.  Ms. Mackay testified regarding her discussion with the employee’s wife regarding his leg condition on July 10, 2000.  At that time it was not clear if the leg condition for which an implant was being recommended was related to an old groin injury or was a new injury.  Subsequently, it was controverted in January 2001.  After that, when the employee became aware that this could be considered a new injury, Rose Walker filed another report of injury regarding the May 2000 incident in March 2001.             

           The employee is alleged to have filed its report of injury regarding the May 16, 2000 injury after the deadline set forth in AS 23.30.100.  However, the time period does not begin to run for filing of the claim until the employee reasonably knows of the injury and the process for filing.
  In this case, we find the employee acted reasonably once he had knowledge of the report of injury filing requirement.  In this regard, we find that it was unclear whether a new filing would have been required.  When Rose Walker was informed that she needed to file a report of injury, she did so in March 2001.  We find she acted in a manner consistent with the requirements of AS 23.30.100.  We additionally note that even where a time loss claim may be barred, we can still authorize continued medical treatment.
                 

         AS 23.30.100 requires the employee to give timely notice of injury within 30 days.  Under subsection (d), failure to give timely notice does not bar a claim if the board excuses the failure on the ground that for some satisfactory reason notice could not be given.  We find that the failure to give timely notice should not bar the claim where, as here, the employee was not aware that the insurer was considering the groin problem a new injury until January 2001.

       IV.    AGGRAVATION OF INJURIES AND DUTY TO MITIGATE
               The insurers urge that the employee failed to mitigate his damages by continuing to work and violating his doctors’ restrictions regarding prohibited activity.  Specifically, they contend that he was warned on several occasions about physical activities which could worsen his conditions.

                The employee contends that he did keep in mind the restrictions placed on his physical activities by his doctors and he did follow these restrictions to the extent that he understood them.  His wife noted that when the crew was working, the employees were directed to engage in lifting heavy objects and moving heavy items as the employee was to refrain from performing these acts due to his physical condition.  Her testimony in this regard was corroborated by that of the employees who testified at the hearing.
  

                   After reviewing the facts and the parties’ arguments, we find that the employee attempted to observe the restrictions placed on him by his physicians and did not deliberately act in such a manner as to aggravate either his neck or groin conditions.  With respect to moving the barrels, we find that these were within his weight lifting restriction and his actions were not such that they could have reasonably have been anticipated to cause aggravation of his neck injury.

                With respect to the employee’s moving the truck bed with other employees, we find that this was an emergency action on his part.  The employee witnesses gave conflicting testimony as to what happened on May 16, 2000.  The laborers said that the employee was helping them adjust the truck bed fitting.  We find, based on the employee’s testimony, that the situation was an emergency and was excusable as he was helping other workers to prevent anyone from getting hurt. His actions were in the furtherance of his business and he was concerned that other employee’s would be injured if he did not come to their aid.  


               Under both of these circumstances regarding the employee’s injuries in 2000, we do not find that the employee failed to mitigate his injuries or deliberately violated his doctors’ restrictions.  We find that the employee’s testimony is credible.
  His actions cannot be said to constitute misconduct such as to defeat any of his claims to workers’ compensation benefits.  We further find that the citation of previous Board decisions by Westport relate to refusal of medical treatment and are inapposite to this situation where the issue concerns an assertion the employee failed to adhere to physician restrictions.                 

              In arriving at this conclusion, we note that the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act has set out exceptions to coverage in AS 23.30.235 for injuries caused by the employee’s willful intent to injure or kill or where an injury is caused by intoxication of the injured employee or proximately caused by the employee being under the influence of drugs.  None of these exceptions apply in the instant case.  Therefore, we believe the employee is covered under the Act.  We also take into consideration the “no-fault” philosophy of workers’ compensation scheme.
 


             The insurers also claim that the employee is malingering and/or has magnified his symptoms.  However, we do not find that this has occurred, based primarily on the employee’s testimony and the reports of Drs. Godersky, O’Malley, Stinson and Thombley.  We find that the employee has sustained neck and groin conditions which have been aggravated by his work and in which work can be considered to be a substantial factor in worsening and aggravating these conditions.  We find that the employee has presented evidence showing that he suffers from bona fide injuries which have produced pain and whose symptoms have not been unduly magnified.  We also do not find evidence of malingering on the employee’s part.   

We have reviewed the report and testimony of Dr. Thompson and compared it to the reports of physicians such as Dr. Godersky, Dr. O’Malley and Dr. Stinson as well as Dr. Thombley’s report. Dr. Stinson, Dr. O’Malley and Dr. Godersky have seen the employee during the past few years.  When we are faced with conflicting medical opinions, we must weight one medical opinion more heavily than another.
  We note that the employee’s treating physicians in Alaska did not observe malingering or psychogenic factors.  They certainly had ample opportunity to observe such behavior during his visits to them.   We further find that his behavior does not reflect malingering or magnification.  

IV. LAST INJURIOUS EXPOSURE RULE



          The last injurious exposure rule was adopted by the Alaska Supreme Court in Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling.
  The rule applies when employment with successive employers may contribute to an employee’s disability.
  This rule imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
   Saling, like the employee in this case, suffered from a degenerative condition which was aggravated by work and work related injuries.  The Saling court points 

                   out that the employee’s situation is analogous to aggravation of a preexisting non-work-related condition.  In that situation, the Court has consistently held the employer liable for the employee’s entire disability.
   

          In Peek v. Alaska Pacific Insurance,
  the Court stated:


                     [Two] determinations…must be made under this rule: “(1) whether                      employment with the subsequent employer ‘aggravated, accelerated, or                     combined with a pre-existing condition; and, if so, (2) whether the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a ‘legal cause’ of the disability, i.e.,‘a substantial factor in bringing about the harm” (quoting Saling, 604 P.2d at 597, 598).

         An aggravation, acceleration or combination is a substantial factor in the disability if it is shown that (1) “but for” the subsequent employment the disability would not have occurred, and (2) the subsequent employment was so important in bringing about the disability that a reasonable person would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility to it.

The Court expressly adopted the “but for” test in a last injurious rule context in Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 757 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).  The Court noted that the purpose of the last injurious exposure rule “…is to provide injured workers with a simple, speedy remedy whereby they may be compensated for losses occasioned by work related injuries.”

         “The question of whether the employment aggravated or accelerated a pre-existing disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the Board and it is not the function of the court to reweigh the evidence or choose between competing inferences.”
  “As we pointed out in Saling, under the ‘last injurious exposure’ rule, an employee need not show that employment with the last employer was the legal cause of disability, only a legal cause of the disability.” 

           Under the last injurious exposure rule, the focus of our inquiry is “the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.”
  In our analysis, we apply the preponderance of the evidence standard pursuant to AS 23.30.239(c), which requires that a sole proprietor bear the burden of proof of the validity of the claim.  To meet the preponderance of the evidence standard, one “…must induce a belief in the minds of the jurors that the asserted facts are probably true.”

            Applying these provisions to the instant case, we find that the employee has established his claim by a preponderance of the evidence against Westport as the last employer.  The Board finds that with regard to the 2000 injuries, the employee’s work aggravated, accelerated and combined preexisting injuries to his neck and groin to worsen his conditions.
  “But for” his subsequent employment, the injuries would not have occurred.  His work was a substantial factor in bringing about the employee’s current disabilities.
 We note that under the substantial factor test, the factor need not be the legal cause.(emphasis added)  It is sufficient if it is one of a range of causes.
  Essentially, we find that the period of the employee’s employment after 1996 was a substantial factor in his resulting disability from his neck and groin conditions.    We base our findings on the reports of the employee’s physicians including Drs O’Malley, Stinson and Godersky.  We also gave weight to the employee’s testimony and that of his wife along with the employee’s former employees.  We further find that aggravation of a preexisting condition may be found in the absence of any specific traumatic event.  “  


           We note that in our review of the Rogers & Babler case, a 1985 last injurious exposure situation, the employee suffered a knee condition which worsened during his subsequent employment.  The court noted that the employee, a laborer, was advised to rest after his earlier knee injuries with prior employers but he went back to work anyway.  This did not preclude his recovery.
  He also delayed recommended surgery.  In neither case, was the employee’s continuing to work or disregard of doctors’ advice preclude him from being covered by workers’ compensation.

             We find that based on  Dr. Thombley, Dr. O’Malley, Dr. Stinson and Dr. Godersky,  the employee suffered from a compensable groin injury on May 16, 2000.   We further find that based on Dr Godersky, Dr. Stinson and  PA Manning, the employee suffered a compensable neck injury on December 16, 2000.  We also note the December 18, 2000 views of the cervical and thoracic spine which show “degenerative spurring anteriorly at the C5-6 disc space, progressed compared with previous exams.”
  We give greater weight to the employee’s treating physicians such as Drs. Stinson and Dr. Godersky as they have greater familiarity with the employee’s condition having seen him on an ongoing basis over a substantial period of time.

             In arriving at these determinations, we are mindful of the Alaska Supreme Court decision in DeYonge v. Hana/Marriott.
  In this case, the Court considered whether an employee who suffers a preexisting arthritic condition is entitled to workers’ compensation where the worker suffers increased symptoms due to the physical requirements of the job.  The employee was a housekeeper who had arthritis in her knees and the demands of her job worsened her condition to the point where she could no longer perform the job.  In reviewing the denial of the claim, the Court held “that a preexisting infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work-connected requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with the …infirmity to produce the…disability for which compensation is sought.”  The Court went on to note that “increased pain or other symptoms can be as disabling as deterioration of the underlying disease itself…and, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim…the employment need only have been a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.”  As in the instant case, the employee sought medical benefits and TTD.  The Court held that with respect to her claims she only need show that employment caused a temporary increase in symptoms aggravating the disability.

            Applying DeYonge standards to the case at hand, we find by the preponderance of  the evidence that the employee’s neck and groin conditions were aggravated by his work activities and his work activities brought about increased symptoms, including pain. We conclude that the employee’s 2000 claims are compensable. We note that Dr. Pulito acknowledges the difficulty of treating the groin condition and suggests further investigation of the groin condition to determine the feasibility of a neurectomy.  We also note that the July 14, 2003 MRI and the most recent report of Dr. Godersky suggest further medical treatment for the employee’s neck condition may be warranted. Based on these reports, we find that the employee continues to need treatment for his neck and groin conditions.    We conclude that the employment activities which occurred after June 16, 1997 caused the need for medical treatment. We conclude that the employee has established that his neck and groin claims are compensable by a preponderance of the evidence.  Westport is the responsible carrier under the last injurious exposure rule.   We conclude that Westport is the responsible insurer as it is the insurer at the time of the most recent injuries that bear a causal relationship to the employee’s disabilities.

 VI.  ACE’S LIABILITY


                    ACE contends that it is not liable for ongoing treatment of the employee’s groin injury as the groin was not injured as a result of the employee’s 1997 neck surgery.   The Board finds that ACE is not responsible for ongoing treatment of the groin and that the groin was not injured in connection with the employee’s 1997 neck surgery.  We base this finding on Dr. O’Malley’s statement that he examined the ilioinguinal nerve and found it to be intact during the April 18, 1997 surgery.  The bone graft did not damage the nerve.  As the bone harvest did not cause the groin pain experienced by the employee subsequent to the surgery, ACE is not responsible for medical care associated with the groin condition after its coverage for World Paving ended in 1997.

                      The parties entered into a stipulation at the September 14, 2003 prehearing conference.  Based on this stipulation and pursuant to 8 AAC 45.050, the Board finds that ACE has paid the employee all compensation and medical benefits due from the March 4, 1992 injury.  Although the employee may need ongoing medical care for his neck and groin conditions, the Board finds that these are attributable to his employment after June 16, 1997 and the injuries of May 14, 2000 and December 16, 2000 under the rule of last injurious exposure.

     VII.         MEDICAL EXPENSES
               AS 23.30.095(a) requires employers to pay for treatment necessitated by the nature of the injury or the process of recovery up to two years after the injury date.  After the two years, we may authorize treatment necessary for the process of recovery.  “If the treatment is necessary to prevent the deterioration of the patient’s condition and allow his continuing employment, it is compensable within the meaning of the statute.”  Wild v. Cook Inlet Pipeline.

          In Weidner & Associates, Inc. v. Hibdon, 
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that

       A claim for medical treatment is to be reviewed according to the date the treatment was sought and the claim was filed with the board.  Because Hibdon’s claim was filed within two years of the date of injury, we must determine whether the treatment sought was reasonable and necessary.

In determining whether Hibdon proved her claim for medical treatment by a preponderance 

of the evidence, the Alaska Supreme Court found:

…where a claimant present credible, competent evidence from his or her treating physician that the treatment undergone or sought is reasonably effective and necessary for the process of recovery, and the evidence is corroborated by other medical experts, and the treatment falls within the realm of medically accepted options, it is generally considered reasonable.  If the employee makes this showing, the employer is faced with a heavy burden—the employer must demonstrate to the Board that the treatment is neither reasonable and necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical options under the particular facts.  It is not the Board’s function to choose between reasonable, yet competing, medically acceptable treatments.  Rather, the Board must determine whether the actual treatment sought by the injured employee is reasonable.

The Hibdon court went on to say the “Choices between reasonable medical options and the risks entailed should be left to the patient and his or her physician.”
  The Court expressed its disapproval of the Board’s exceeding its authority in disapproving the consensus reached between the employee and the treating physician as to what treatment was appropriate.

            If continued care and treatment beyond the two year period is indicated, the Board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.  AS 23.30.095.

            Applying these principles to the case at hand, we find that the employee had continuing need for treatment for his neck condition after the 1996 fusion.  While his neck condition seemingly improved for several years after the fusion, it then worsened particularly after the December 16, 2000 injury.   By a preponderance of the evidence, we find that the employee’s neck and groin conditions are not mere strains that will go away with the passage of time. 

          We find the permanent placement of the groin inplant, it was done to accomplish more that just address a groin strain.
  We find that the employee received benefit from it, which had not been the case with prior groin treatments such as injections and the radio frequency ablation.  We also note that the implant requires monitoring.  We believe that this implant choice was the type of treatment the Hibdon Court was referring to when it talked about the consensus between the employee and the employee’s doctors.  By a preponderance of the available evidence, we find the treatments for both the neck and groin conditions to be reasonable and necessary.  

          We find the need for treatment of the employee’s neck continues as suggested by Dr. Godersky’s July 2003 report and the July 14, 2003 MRI.We order that appropriate medical benefits be paid on behalf of the employee by the insurer to continue for the groin and neck conditions under AS 23.30.095.  We further conclude that if any of the treatment is more than two years from the date of injury in this case, continued treatment and/or care is authorized by the Board under AS 23.30.095 as the process of recovery may require.

       VII.     INSURER’S CLAIMS FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF BENEFITS AND ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS

            As 23.30.155(d) provides, in part:

                        When payment of temporary disability benefits is controverted solely on the                          grounds that another employer or another insurer of the same employer may be responsible for all or a portion of the benefits, the most recent employer or insurer who is a party to the claim and who may be liable shall make payments during the pendency of the dispute.  When a final determination of liability is made, any reimbursement required, including interest at the statutory rate, and all costs and attorney’s fees incurred by the prevailing employer, shall be made within 14 days of the determination.

           
Counsel for ACE sought reimbursement under AS 23.30.155(d) for medical expenses and attorney’s fees after December 16, 2000 for the employee’s neck condition and for his groin condition after May 14, 1999.  The medical expenses sought were $16,595.01.  Also sought were half of the attorneys fees and costs from April 20, 2001 to the present or $16,981.05.

           Westport through its counsel seeks $2,575.60 in costs and $34,174.00 in attorney fees and paralegal costs in defending the claim through September 15, 2003.  It also seeks $13,986.00 in costs paid directly through Northern Adjusters from July 31, 2001 through the present based on its claim that the employee had fully recovered from the effects of his strain.  Bills from Dr. Pulito, Dr. Braun and Patti Mackay were still outstanding.
 

         In view of our finding under the last injurious exposure rule, we will grant the requested relief to ACE.  The relief requested by Westport is denied.  We find the attorney’s fees and costs claimed by ACE are reasonable.

        VIII.  PENALTIES
          As 23.30.155 provides, in part:

                     (d)…If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the Board and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due…

                      (e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section…

                      The record reflects that both insurers filed controversions regarding the employee’s neck and groin conditions.  However, as we find the controversions were filed in good faith, we decline to impose penalties in connection with the controversions.

       IX.   INTEREST      


           Our regulation, 8 AAC 45.142, requires that if compensation is not paid when due,  interest must be paid at a statutory rate as provided at AS 45.45.010 from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.

           8 AAC 45.142   governing the payment of interest, states, in part:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b) The employer shall pay the interest…(3) on late-paid medical benefits to (A) the employee…, if the employee has paid the provider or medical benefits;…(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

             We find that there were late payments for the employee’s medical care and also that there were instances in which he paid for medical care out of his own pocket.  We find the employee is due interest on these late paid amounts. 

             We also find that the employee is entitled to late paid TTD, TPD and PPI but it is not clear from the record as to the dates of these benefits.  When the parties recalculate the benefits to which the employee is entitled, the interest under 8 AAC 45.142 should be factored into the calculation.



X. REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

    AS 23.30.041 sets for the rules governing reemployment benefits eligibility.  

   The employee seeks reemployment benefits in this case. We will refer this matter to the reemployment benefits administrator for an eligibility determination.       

      XI.       TTD BENEFITS



The employee also seeks TTD benefits.  AS 23.30.185 provides:



In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical disability.

As is the case with the TPD and PPI issues, the record suggests that the employee may be eligible for TTD.  However, the time periods are unclear because much of the emphasis  in the hearing was on his medical benefits.  The parties are encouraged to address this issue in light of any future treatment the employee may undergo as well as to establish time loss he has already experienced.  The compensation rate issue may be addressed in this context. The Board will retain jurisdiction in the event the parties are unable to resolve the disputed benefits.

         XII.  TPD BENEFITS

AS 23.30.200(a) provides, in part:


In case of temporary partial disability resulting in decrease of earning capacity the compensation shall be 80 percent of the difference between the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages before the injury and the wage-earning capacity of the employee after the injury in the same…employment, to be paid during the continuance of the disability, but not to be paid for more than five years.  Temporary partial disability benefits may not be paid for a period of disability after the date of medical stability. 


Because the focus of the hearing was on the employee’s claim for medical benefits, 

we are not able to address the dates of eligibility for TPD benefits.  However, we note that there were times when the employee worked partial days.  We also note that the parties have the employee’s tax records as a starting point for any TPD calculation.  We direct the parties to consider this issue along with the PPI issue, the compensation rate and the TTD issues.  The Board will retain jurisdiction in the event the parties are unable to resolve disputes on this issue.

        XIII.  PPI







AS 23.30.190(a) provides, in part:


In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person.


Because the focus of the hearing concerned medical benefits, we are not able to address whether there is any additional permanent impairment.  We direct the parties to consider this issue along with the TTD  and the TPD benefits once the employee has undergone recommended treatment.  The Board will retain jurisdiction in the event the parties are unable to resolve disputed outstanding costs or benefits.


XIV.  DID THE EMPLOYERS ENGAGE IN UNFAIR OR FRIVOLOUS CONTROVERSION?


AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:


(e)  If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section…


In our review of the record, we find that there was a lack of certainty as to whether the May 16, 2000 injury was a new injury requiring a new report of injury or a continuation of the employee’s previous groin problems.  We also find confusion about whether the insurer was liable for the employee’s preexisting condition and whether another carrier might bear responsibility for all or some portion of the employee’s medical and other workers’ compensation benefits.   Under these circumstances, we believe the controversions were all filed in good faith and were timely.
  We find that no penalty is due on these controversions.


ORDER

1.   AS 23.30.100 is not a bar to the claim for the employee’s May 16, 2000 injury as the employee was not aware that this was considered a new injury which would require a new report of injury.


2.   Westport is liable, under the last injurious exposure rule, for all benefits due to the employee as a result of the injuries of May 16, 2000 (groin) and December 16, 2000 (neck). 


3.     The employee is entitled to medical benefits under AS 23.30.095 for the injuries of May 16, 2000 and December 16, 2000.  He is also entitled to continuing medical benefits to aid his recovery process.  Westport is responsible for the employee’s ongoing medical expenses for his groin and neck conditions. 


4.  Westport shall pay the employee interest on all late-paid benefits under 8 AAC 45.142 and AS 23.30.155. 


5.    The employee’s request for penalties is denied.


6.  The employee is referred to the reemployment benefits administrator for an eligibility determination. 

             7.  The request for reimbursement by ACE under AS 23.30.155(d) is granted.  The request for comparable relief by Westport is denied as Westport is the liable employer under the last injurious exposure rule.

             8. The employee’s request for a finding of unfair controversion is denied and dismissed.


9.  The employee’s claim for additional PPI is taken under advisement to be addressed by the parties upon completion of further medical treatment


10    The employee’s claim for TTD is taken under advisement pending identification of specific time loss periods.  The Board will retain jurisdiction in the event the parties are not able to resolve this issue.


11.  The employee’s claim for TPD is taken under advisement pending identification of eligibility periods pursuant to AS 23.30.200.  The Board will retain jurisdiction in the event the parties are not able to resolve this issue. 


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 23rd  day  of  October,  2003.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

            Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION

            I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of MICHAEL L. WALKER, employee / applicant; v. WORLD PAVING & ASPHALT MAINTENANCE, employer; WESTPORT INSURANCE CORPORATION, insurer; and ACE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, insurers / defendants; Case Nos. 200028175M, 199206474, and 200027147; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 23rd  day  of   October,  2003.

                             
_________________________________

                                                                                     Robin Burns, Clerk                            
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